NOV 1 5 2013

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON Rv

NO. 89618-6

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 304051

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIV. III

DARLENE TOWNSEND, Ph.D.,

Petitioner

JAMES HENRY AND AMY DAWN ESKRIDGE,

Respondents

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Leslie R. Weatherhead, WSBA No. 11207 Geana M. Van Dessel, WSBA No. 35969 Lee & Hayes, PLLC 601 West Riverside, Suite 1400 Spokane, Washington 99201 (509) 324-9256

Attorneys for Petitioner Darlene Townsend, Ph.D.

III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW		
	A. Whether the Court of Appeals' interpretation and application of the immunity for mandatory reporters in RCW 26.44.060 erroneously narrows the immunity, creating a "cruel dilemma" for mandatory reporters who are subject to prosecution if they do not report and civil suit if they do, and limiting the likelihood that reports of suspected child abuse will be made.		
	B. Whether the Court of Appeals ruling that Dr. Townsend waived her immunity defense found in RCW 4.24.510 is in conflict with the line of cases from <i>French v. Gabriel</i> to <i>Oltman v. Holland American Line USA, Inc.</i>		
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
V.	ARGUMENT6		
	A. Review of the Court of Appeals' Decision Should be Granted Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).		
	B. The Lower Courts' Misapplication of the Immunity Provision for Reports to Child Protective Services Involves an Issue of Serious Public Interest that Should Be Decided by the Supreme Court because it Creates a "Cruel Dilemma" for Mandatory Reporters and Reduces the Chances that Reports of Child Abuse will be Made.		
VI.	C. The Court of Appeals' Ruling That Dr. Townsend Waived Her Immunity Defense Found in RCW 4.24.510 is in Conflict with the Line of Cases from French v. Gabriel to Oltman v. Holland American Line USA, Inc. CONCLUSION		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>PAGE</u> <u>Washington Cases</u>
Dunning v. Pacerelli, 63 Wn. App. 232, 818 P.2d 34 (Div. 3 1991)
French v. Gabriel, 116 Wn.2d 584, 806 P.2d 1234 (1991)passim
In re J.F., 109, Wn. App. 718, 37 P.3d 1227 (Div. 1 2001)10
King v. Snohomish County, 146 Wn. 2d 420, 47 P.3d 563 (2002)passim
Lybbert v. Grant County, 141 Wn. 2d 29, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000)
Oltman v. Holland American Line USA, Inc., 163 Wn.2d 236, 178 P.3d 981 (2008)passim
Raymond v. Fleming, 24 Wn. App. 112, 600 P.2d 614 (Div.1 1979)16, 17
Romjue v. Fairchild, 60 Wn. App. 278, 803 P.2d 57 (Div. 3 1991)
Washington State Statutes
Laws of Wash. 1965, ch 13, § 6 (Current version RCW 26.44.060)9
Rules
RAP 13.41

RAP 13.4(b)6, 14
RAP 13.4(b)(1)7
RAP 13.4(b)(4)6
RCW 9A.20.02111
RCW 9A.36.120, et seq
RCW 9A.42.020, et seq
RCW 9A.42.060, et seq
RCW 4.24.510
RCW 5.60.06010
RCW 7.70.010 et seq
RCW 18.19.18010
RCW 26.44.03010
RCW 26.44.060
RCW 26.44.060(1)12
Secondary Sources
Gowen & Kohlman, "Professional Liability for Failure to Report Child Abuse," 38 Am. Jr. Trials 1 (1989)
Freeh "Report of the Special Investigative Counsel Regarding the Actions of The Pennsylvania State University Related to the Child Sexual Abuse Committed by Gerald A. Sandusky", published online at: http://progress.psu.edu/assets/content/REPORT_FINAL_071212.pdf

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Dr. Darlene Townsend is the Petitioner herein. She was the defendant at the trial court level and the appellant, on appeal to Division III of the Washington State Court of Appeals. She respectfully seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision designated below in Section II of this Petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, Dr. Townsend seeks review of the unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals, Division III, <u>James Henry Eskridge</u>, <u>II & Amy Dawn Eskridge v. Darlene A. Townsend, PhD</u>, No. 30405-1-III. A copy of this unpublished opinion is provided in Appendix A. Dr. Townsend filed a Motion for Reconsideration with the Court of Appeals, Division III, which was denied. A copy of the order denying the Motion for Reconsideration is provided in Appendix B.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether the Court of Appeals' interpretation and application of the immunity for mandatory reporters in RCW 26.44.060 erroneously narrows the immunity, creating a "cruel dilemma" for mandatory reporters who are subject to prosecution if they do not report and civil suit if they do, and limiting the likelihood that reports of suspected child abuse will be made.
- B. Whether the Court of Appeals ruling that Dr. Townsend waived her immunity defense found in RCW 4.24.510 is in conflict with the line of cases from *French v. Gabriel* to *Oltman v. Holland American Line USA, Inc.*

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Facts

Jim Eskridge sought individual counseling from Dr. Darlene Townsend in August 2006. RP 351, CP 2.1.¹ The engagement was later expanded to include couples therapy involving both Jim Eskridge's wife Amy, RP 151-52, and later still to include therapy with the Eskridges' two sons. RP 333-334,328:23-329:1.

In July 2007, Jim Eskridge made statements to Dr. Townsend which led her to believe he may be abusing his children. RP 243-44, 327-28:5. Dr. Townsend believed she was legally obligated to report this to Child Protective Services ("CPS"). RP 390. Because Amy was traveling for her job at the time, Dr. Townsend delayed making her report until Amy was back in the home and able to deal with the consequences of her intended report. RP 333-39. Dr. Townsend made a report to CPS, RP 390, and some later time to the Spokane Police Department. RP 293, 385. When Dr. Townsend received a letter threatening her with litigation for having reported the suspected child abuse (from an attorney for the Eskridges) she filed a grievance with the Washington State Bar

¹ The references in this Petition to the report of proceedings will be "RP X", where X is the page number of the report; "CP Y", where Y is the page number of the Clerk's Papers; and Appx. Z, where Z is the page number of the Appendix filed with the Appellant's Brief in the court below.

Association in which she explained her report to CPS and the reasons for it. RP 386-87. And when the Eskridges filed a complaint against her with the Washington State Health Professions Quality Assurance Commission (HPQAC), Dr. Townsend filed a response in which she again explained the reasons she had reported to CPS. RP 384-85, 569. Dr. Townsend's report to CPS was investigated by CPS. CPS concluded that it was not substantiated, and so advised the Eskridges. RP 629. The Eskridges later divorced. RP 129-30.

B. Procedure Below

The Eskridges sued Dr. Townsend in Spokane County Superior Court on June 5, 2009 and amended their complaint on November 16, 2009. CP 1-9. Before trial, their claims were limited to alleged violations of Washington's "Actions for Injuries from Health Care" statute, RCW 7.70.010 et seq. CP 1-12. They alleged, *inter alia*, breach of the standard of care based on breaches of confidentiality, conflicts of interests, inappropriate expansion of Mr. Eskridge's treatment for sexual addiction, failure to properly terminate treatment in a professional way, and filing a retaliatory complaint with CPS. CP 1-12.

Dr. Townsend answered, and in her answer she specifically raised as an affirmative defense her statutory immunity from suit:

<u>Immunity</u>. Townsend is entitled to statutory immunity for the acts and omissions alleged within the Complaint.

CP 160.

The Eskridges issued discovery requests to Dr.

Townsend, asking, inter alia:

With regard to your claim that you have immunity for the acts complained of by Plaintiffs in their Amended Complaint, please identify any all such acts for which you contend immunity applies, and please identify and describe each material fact which you contend supports your claim of immunity.

CP 64. Dr. Townsend responded:

Pursuant to various state statutes, Dr. Townsend is immune from civil liability for making her good faith report to Child Protective Services which was required by law. See RCW 26.44.060.

CP 64. Dr. Townsend was never asked to specify the "various state statutes" that provided her immunity. When asked to "provide copies of all documents pertaining to or referenced in your answer to the preceding interrogatory," Dr. Townsend responded: "See RCW 26.44.060." CP 53.

Before trial, Dr. Townsend moved *in limine* to exclude evidence of the reports to official agencies, which she understood were to be offered in support of the Eskridges' claim of professional malpractice, because the reports are privileged under two distinct state statutes, RCW 4.24.510 (as

to all reports to official agencies) and RCW 26.44.060 (as to the report to CPS). CP 24-27.

The trial court ruled that Dr. Townsend had waived any immunity under RCW 4.24.510 and that, in any event, RCW 4.24.510 was displaced by RCW 26.44.060 where child abuse reports are concerned. The trial court ruled (consistently with *Dunning v. Pacerelli*, 63 Wn. App. 232, 818 P.2d 34 (1991)) that Dr. Townsend was bound to prove her own good faith to be entitled to immunity under RCW 26.44.060. RP 971-77.

The Eskridges based their case at trial upon Dr. Townsend's reports to CPS, RP 31-36, to the Washington State Bar, RP 35, and to HPQAC. *Id.* The report to CPS was the central feature of the Eskridges' case. RP 873-886. The jury returned a verdict against Dr. Townsend in the amount of \$675,000.00. CP 143-45.

Dr. Townsend timely filed her appeal on July 3, 2012 with the Washington State Court of Appeals, Division III. CP 146-150. The Court of Appeals affirmed, in an opinion filed on September 17, 2013, holding that Dr. Townsend waived her immunity under RCW 4.24.510. *See Eskridge v. Townsend*, No. 30405-1-III (Div. 3 Sept. 17, 2013); Appx. A. The Court of Appeals did not rule upon Dr. Townsend's contention that

she was not required to prove her good faith under RCW 26.44.060. See Id.

Dr. Townsend timely filed her Motion for Reconsideration on October 7, 2013 with the Washington State Court of Appeals, Division III, requesting the Court address and decide the issue of the of the correct application of immunity under RCW 26.44.060. On October 17, 2013, the court denied Dr. Townsend's Motion for Reconsideration. *See* Appx. B.

Dr. Townsend now petitions this Court for discretionary review in accordance with RAP 13.4(b).

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Review of the Court of Appeals' Decision Should be Granted Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

A petition for review may be accepted by the Court if it involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Review should be granted because the Court of Appeals' erroneous interpretation and application of the immunity in RCW 26.44.060 create a "cruel dilemma" for mandatory reporters, and increase the risk that reports of suspected abuse will not be made, presenting an

issue of substantial and serious public interest that should be decided by this Court.

A petition for review may also be accepted by the Court if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1). Review should be granted because the Court of Appeals' opinion as to waiver of immunity conflicts with this Court's decisions in *French v. Gabriel*, 116 Wn.2d 584, 806 P.2d 1234 (1991), *Lybbert v. Grant County*, 141 Wn.2d 29, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000), *King v. Snohomish County*, 146 Wn.2d 420, 47 P.3d 563 (2002) and *Oltman v. Holland American Line USA, Inc.*, 163 Wn.2d 236, 178 P.3d 981 (2008).

B. The Lower Courts' Misapplications of the Immunity Provision for Reports to Child Protective Services Involve an Issue of Serious Public Interest that Should Be Decided by the Supreme Court because the Misapplications Create a "Cruel Dilemma" for Mandatory Reporters and Reduce the Chances that Reports of Child Abuse Will be Made.

Child abuse is a ghastly, horrific crime.² It is a uniquely difficult crime to detect and punish because its victims are children; the victims are young and vulnerable, and may easily be threatened into keeping silent. Further, they may be too young to be able to articulate the physical or

² It is a felony in Washington to assault a child. RCW 9A.36.120, et seq. It is a felony to mistreat or abandon a child. RCW 9A.42.020, et seq., RCW 9A.42.060, et seq., except where no substantial harm ensues in which case it is a misdemeanor.

emotional violence done to them, and unable to get access to adults to whom they could report even if they were able. Or, in the saddest cases, they may not even know that they are victims – they may accept, having no way to know better, that being severely beaten, chained up in the basement or deprived of food and water are the consequences that all bad children deserve.

Because the victims so often cannot call out for help, detection and punishment of child abuse depends uniquely upon the willingness of observant adults to speak up. But the adults do not always speak up. Child abuse is likely to be noticed only by those close to the victims (or the perpetrators), and strong taboos around the reporting of the abuse of children, especially sexual abuse, make it a very serious and difficult thing to accuse a client, patient, teacher, coach, or family member of child abuse. The reticence born of those taboos is reinforced by fear of tort liability. A person who accuses an adult of child abuse, but is proved wrong, is aware not only that he may have seriously damaged his relationship with that person, but moreover that he can expect retribution in the form of a lawsuit for damages. Adults who suspect child abuse may thus often prefer to rationalize that they didn't see what they suspected they saw (or that it couldn't be true), to taking on the weight of responsibility for reporting a suspicion (especially one that might not be

borne out upon later investigation).³ As the recent awful events at Penn State University have once again sadly demonstrated, if the adults fail to speak up, children continue to suffer.⁴

When it enacted RCW 26.44.060, Washington's Legislature recognized these obstacles to the detection and punishment of child abuse, and sought to overcome them by offering adults who suspect child abuse both a stick and a safe harbor. *See* Laws of Wash. 1965, ch 13, § 6. For a stick, the Legislature defined classes of people likely to be close enough to families to see or suspect child abuse, including teachers, coaches, doctors, therapists, policemen and (in cases of severe abuse) family members. For those people ("mandatory reporters"), the Legislature simply made it a crime not to report if they "believe" – based on what they have "witness[ed]" or heard alleged in a "credible written or oral report" – that

(1989).

³ "Parental abuse was simply beyond credibility to some doctors; others feared civil or criminal liability would result from reporting. Some did not want to seem an 'officious intermeddler' to angry parents. Others misplaced their duty of confidentiality with the parent instead of the child." Gowen & Kohlman, *Professional Liability for Failure to Report Child Abuse*, 38 Am. Jr. Trials 1

⁴ See generally, Freeh "Report of the Special Investigative Counsel Regarding the Actions of The Pennsylvania State University Related to the Child Sexual Abuse Committed by Gerald A. Sandusky", published online at: http://progress.psu.edu/assets/content/REPORT_FINAL_071212.pdf, noting that the justification offered by PSU senior administrators for their shocking failure to act on reports of child abuse was "that the 'humane' thing to do in 2001 was to carefully and responsibly assess the best way to handle vague but troubling allegations. According to their counsel, these men were good people trying to do their best to make the right decisions..."

"a child has suffered abuse or neglect". See RCW 26.44.030. Mandatory reporters who have knowledge of child abuse need not be *certain*, that is, they need not be able to *prove* their suspicions; the Legislature provided that reports must go to a state agency, Child Protective Services or law enforcement, which is charged to investigate. *Id.* Thus, mandatory reporters with knowledge *must* overcome the taboos associated with accusing a family member, client or patient of child abuse, or risk criminal sanction themselves.⁵

To eliminate the further obstacle to reporting that arises from fear of tort liability, the Legislature provided a safe harbor: immunity for reports to Child Protective Services or law enforcement. *See* RCW 26.44.060. There is only a single, clearly defined limit to this immunity: the Legislature made it a crime to intentionally make a false report, and expressly provided that immunity would be withdrawn if, and *only if* a reporter of child abuse were convicted of that crime:

(1)(a) Except as provided in (b) of this subsection, any person participating in good faith in the making of a report pursuant to this chapter or testifying as to alleged child abuse or neglect in a judicial proceeding shall in so doing be immune from any

⁵ Further evidence of the high priority the Legislature put on reporting by mandatory reporters exists in RCW §§ 5.60.060, 18.19.180 providing that mandated reports are not subject to the spousal privilege, physician-patient privilege, domestic violence advocate privilege, therapist-patient privilege, counselor-patient privilege. . *In re J.F.* 109 Wn. App. 718, 37 P.3d 1227 (Div. 1 2001).

liability arising out of such reporting or testifying under any law of this state or its political subdivisions.

(b) A person convicted of a violation of subsection (4) of this section shall not be immune from liability under (a) of this subsection.

* * * *

(4) A person who, intentionally and in bad faith, knowingly makes a false report of alleged abuse or neglect shall be guilty of a misdemeanor punishable in accordance with RCW 9A.20.021.

RCW 26.44.060 (emphasis added).

The lower courts have misunderstood and misapplied the immunity provision in a way that narrows and limits the immunity and defeats the Legislature's purpose to promote reporting so that CPS or law enforcement can investigate. The lower courts of appeal have, in a series of cases beginning with *Dunning v. Pacerelli*, 63 Wn. App. 232, 240, 818 P.2d 34 (Div. 3 1991), seized on the words "in good faith" in the immunity statute and mistakenly ignored the express language of the statute in subsections (a) and (b) that provides for loss of immunity in *only one* situation – conviction of the crime of false reporting. They have thus improperly reduced the actual language of the statute to mere surplusage (by ignoring it), and have ordained that "[t]he burden is on the [defendants] to prove they acted in good faith and thus are entitled to the

statutory immunity afforded them in RCW 26.44.060(1)." *Id.* This Court has never had occasion to review this misapplication of RCW 26.44.060.

The Court of Appeals' failure to apply the statute as written is a simple and clear legal error, which by dramatically narrowing the breadth of the immunity puts mandatory reporters in a "cruel dilemma" between being prosecuted for failure to report and sued for reporting. Worse, the error will over time constrict the flow of reports to authorities that the Legislature required by, as a practical matter, shifting the duty to actually prove child abuse to the mandatory reporter.

The Legislature's express intention was that if mandatory reporters believe that abuse is occurring, they report it, so that *CPS* or law enforcement can investigate; immunity was conferred without regard to whether or not abuse was later found to have actually occurred. The Legislature prescribed that a mandatory reporter must only believe, based on something she saw or credible information received, that abuse is happening, to trigger the duty to report (and criminal liability for a failure to report). But mandatory reporters are learning, from Dr. Townsend's case and others, that the only realistic way for a mandatory reporter to later prove her own good faith is to prove that she was right, i.e., that abuse actually did happen. Consequently, mandatory reporters understand that a report really cannot be made 'in good faith" if the reporter feels

unable to definitely *prove* that abuse is occurring.⁶ The barriers to reporting that the Legislature sought to knock down are raised anew, and reports of strong suspicions of abuse short of certainty will not be made, leaving perpetrators undiscovered, and child victims un-rescued. That is a matter of serious public interest and consequence. The Court should grant review to consider and correct it.

C. The Court of Appeals' Ruling That Dr. Townsend Waived Her Immunity Defense Found in RCW 4.24.510 is in Conflict With the Line of Cases From French v. Gabriel to Oltman v. Holland American Line USA, Inc.

Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with prior decisions of this Court.

Specifically, in this case the Court of Appeals failed to follow *French v*. *Gabriel*, 116 Wn.2d 584, 806 P.2d 1234 (1991), *Lybbert v*. *Grant County*, 141 Wn.2d 29, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000), *King v*. *Snohomish County*, 146

Wn.2d 420, 47 P.3d 563 (2002) and *Oltman v*. *Holland American Line*

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