RECEIVED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
Dec 12, 2013, 2:00 pm  
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER  
CLERK

E CR  
RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF  
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 89618-6

---

**JAMES HENRY ESKRIDGE, II and  
AMY DAWN ESKRIDGE,**

RESPONDENTS,

v.

**DARLENE M. TOWNSEND, PH.D.,**

PETITIONER.

---

**RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

JOHN D. ALLISON, WSBA No. 26299  
EYMAN ALLISON HUNTER JONES P.S.  
2208 WEST SECOND AVENUE  
SPOKANE, WA 99201  
(509) 747-0101

BENJAMIN P. COMPTON, WSBA No. 44567  
VREELAND LAW PLLC  
CITY CENTER BELLEVUE  
500 108<sup>TH</sup> AVENUE NE, SUITE 740  
BELLEVUE, WA  
(425) 326-1300

— ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENTS —

 ORIGINAL

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

The Petition posits that the Legislature intended to dramatically change the immunity landscape with its 1988 amendment to RCW

26.44.060. That amendment added a new subsection (4), which automatically revoked immunity for any person convicted of intentional, bad faith false reporting of abuse, an act that became a new crime under this comprehensive bill. *See* LAWS of 1988, Ch. 142. Dr. Townsend would have this Court reverse more than 25 years of prior interpretation and hold that the Legislature actually *meant* to say that absolute immunity is automatic for all reporters unless they are first convicted of the crime of intentional, malicious, false reporting. Dr. Townsend provides no support for her theory through legislative history, news accounts of the amended legislation, or court opinions, not to mention the fact this interpretation would render the good faith immunity provided for in the statute meaningless. But, it is the legislative history itself that disproves Dr. Townsend's argument.

RCW 26.44.060 was first enacted in 1965 and originally gave blanket immunity for medical practitioners reporting suspected child abuse. LAWS of 1965, Ch. 13. A 1975 amendment added the qualification of good faith for immunity to attach to a host of mandatory reporters and for others who chose to file abuse reports, despite no requirement they do so. LAWS of 1975 (1<sup>st</sup> Exec. Session), Ch. 217.

The 1988 amendment at issue here is best viewed in its entire context within multiple amendments to the entire set of child abuse

reporting statutes within RCW 26.44 which occurred simultaneously. These were reported as “AN ACT Relating to malicious reporting of child abuse or neglect; amending RCW 26.44.060; reenacting and amending RCW 26.44.020; and prescribing penalties.” LAWS of 1988, Ch. 142. (see copy attached as Appendix B).

The only fair reading of this comprehensive bill is that the Legislature sought to amend the reporting statutes to enact a criminal penalty for intentional and malicious false reporting and to remove those convicted of this new crime from any consideration of good faith immunity. The many parts of this bill lead only to this conclusion.

First, the definitions statute, (RCW 26.44.020) was amended to define the new terms “malice” and “maliciously” as “evil intent, wish, or design to ... (injure) another person.” *Id.* Next, RCW 26.44.030 allowed police officers to interview reporters of abuse “to determine if any malice is involved in the reporting.” RCW 26.44.030(19).<sup>1</sup>

Finally RCW 26.44.060 was amended to state that any person who “intentionally and in bad faith or maliciously, knowingly makes a false report of abuse or neglect” would thereafter be guilty of a misdemeanor. And, such persons would lose good faith immunity. RCW 26.44.060(4).

---

<sup>1</sup> This statute was very recently amended (effective December 1, 2013) to recodify this subsection from the former RCW 26.44.030(17).

In this context, it is clear the Legislature intended only to divest malicious false reporters of any immunity claim. The official published Final Bill Report for this legislation further underscores this critical point. The title/summary of the report itself identifies the amendments as “[i]mposing penalties for malicious reporting of child or dependent adult abuse or neglect.” The “Synopsis as Enacted” portion of the report states that a “person who makes a good faith report of abuse is immune from liability in making the report or testifying in court.” LAWS of 1988, Ch. 142. The “Summary” section reads: “Any person who, intentionally and in bad faith or maliciously, knowingly makes a false report of child abuse or neglect is guilty of a misdemeanor. A person convicted of making a false report is not immune from civil liability.” *Id.*

The Legislature, as part of these overall amendments, did add the words “[e]xcept as provided in (b) of this subsection” in front of the existing grant of immunity for anyone making a good faith report of child abuse. RCW 26.44.060(1)(a).<sup>2</sup> But that qualifying phrase only accommodated the new exception for malicious, intentional, false reports. If the Legislature intended to guarantee immunity for everyone unless they were convicted of the crime, as Dr. Townsend claims, the bill and final report would be expected to directly convey that intent, by eliminating any

---

<sup>2</sup> A copy of RCW 26.44.060 as amended is attached as Appendix A.

good faith requirement from the law. Certainly, the statute would not continue to include the words “good faith” – words Dr. Townsend’s proposed interpretation ignores altogether.

**2. Traditional statutory construction rules further disavow Dr. Townsend’s reading of the reporting statute.**

Statutes cannot be construed to make sections or words void, meaningless, or superfluous. *In re Dependency of K.D.S. v. D.S.H.S.*, 176 Wn.2d 644, 656, 294 P.3d 695 (2013), quoting *Taylor v. City of Redmond*, 89 Wn.2d 315, 319, 571 P.2d 1388 (1977). Dr. Townsend’s interpretation that only those first convicted of the crime of malicious reporting are not immune from civil liability in reporting child abuse would effectively render meaningless and superfluous the words requiring good faith found in subsection RCW 26.44.060(1)(a). Such a *carte blanche* application of immunity is simply not consistent with the plain language of this statute.

Another rule of construction holds that courts presume the Legislature considered its prior enactments in amending statutes. *State v. Public Util. Dist. No. 1*, 91 Wn.2d 378, 383, 588 P.2d 1146 (1979). Under this rule, a more recent (2004) amendment of RCW 26.44.060 further demonstrates Dr. Townsend’s interpretation of good faith immunity is not held by the Legislature itself. That amendment added a new subsection (5) which further extended immunity to persons who cooperate in a child

abuse investigation following an initial report. LAWS of 2004, Ch. 37. The Legislature could have written the amendment to mirror Dr. Townsend's contention by revoking immunity only for those making intentionally false, criminal statements during their cooperation. But instead, it expressly conditioned immunity on good faith.

Here, the plain construction of RCW 26.44.060(1)(a) is that immunity is conditioned upon a showing of good faith. This common sense interpretation of the words "[e]xcept as provided in (b) of this subsection ..." is that people convicted of intentional, bad faith reporting are automatically ineligible for immunity. This is in accord with principles of collateral estoppel and obviates the need for a civil plaintiff to relitigate issues already decided in a criminal proceeding. *See Clark v. Baines*, 150 Wn.2d 905, 912-14, 84 P.3d 245 (2004).

The prevention of child abuse is, and should be, the pre-eminent priority. But Washington's legislature recognized a need for some balance in protecting the rights of parents and adults in general against the harm that can follow reports not made in good faith. *See* RCW 26.44.010 (recognizing that "[t]he bond between a child and his or her parent, custodian, or guardian is of paramount importance, and any intervention into the life of a child is also an intervention into the life of the parent, custodian, or guardian" but also providing for the reporting of instances of

abuse).<sup>3</sup> Good faith immunity was never meant to be a shield penetrated only if criminal prosecutors first chose to investigate and charge a person for intentional, bad faith reporting, and then again only if a conviction was won. Under legislative policy, a bad faith reporter will not even be referred to the State for prosecution unless the person has made a bad faith report once before. *See* RCW 26.44.061(2). Therefore, Dr. Townsend's interpretation of RCW 26.44.060 would give a free pass to a first time bad faith reporter, a nonsensical result that finds no support in the statute, its legislative history, or interpretation over the many years.

**3. Dr. Townsend's "Issue of Serious Public Interest" must be demonstrated from anecdotal evidence and actual real-life experience, rather than hyperbolic creation of a crisis that doesn't exist.**

The Petition is rife with unsupported prose, such as the claim of a "cruel dilemma" for reporters which, as in the following passage, are plainly eviscerated by the utter lack of real-life examples:

---

<sup>3</sup>*See also* RCW 26.44.030 (limiting duty to report instances of child abuse to situations where "reasonable cause" exists); *see also* RCW 26.44.015 (stating the "chapter shall not be construed to authorize interference with child-raising practices, including reasonable parental discipline, which are not injurious to the child's health, welfare, or safety."); *see also* RCW 26.44.032 (providing that public employer shall provide for legal defense of public employee acting "in good faith" when making a report under RCW 26.44.030); *see also* RCW 26.44.056(3) (providing that "a child protective services employee, an administrator, a doctor or a law enforcement officer shall not be held liable in any civil action for the decision for taking the child into custody, if done in good faith" where that child may be in danger from abuse if returned to his or her home).

But mandatory reporters are learning, from Dr. Townsend's case *and others*, that the only realistic way for a mandatory reporter to later prove her own good faith is to prove that she was right, i.e., that abuse actually did happen.

Petition at p. 12 (emphasis added).

There is no citation to any additional case supporting the words "and others." In truth, previous appellate opinions going back 25 years show that immunity has been readily sustained for good faith reporting.

Even though the rest of these previously reported opinions landed plainly in favor of immunity for the reporters (and dismissal of the plaintiffs' cases), Dr. Townsend still claims Washington's appellate courts have uniformly "misapplied" the good faith immunity statute for all of these many years. In fact, these cases show that demonstration of good faith by mandatory reporters is a minimal burden, far from Dr. Townsend's contention that "the only realistic way for a mandatory reporter to later prove her own good faith is to prove that she was right, i.e., that abuse actually did happen." Petition at p. 12.

For example, in *Whaley v. State*, 90 Wn. App. 658, 956 P.2d 1100 (Div. I 1998), Division One of the Washington Court of Appeals rejected a claim against a mandatory reporter in a manner that demonstrated liberal application of statutory good faith immunity for child abuse reports:

[T]here is no legal requirement that information giving rise to a suspicion of child abuse be investigated or verified before it is reported. RCW 26.44.050 imposes the duty of investigation upon the authorities who receive the report, not upon those who make the report. The purpose of the statutory grant of immunity, to encourage the reporting of child abuse, would not be served if immunity could be defeated simply by showing the reporter passed on unverified or uninvestigated information. Thus, a traditional negligence standard--based on what the reporter reasonably should have known--is not used to determine whether immunity will attach. Rather the question is whether the reporter acted "with a reasonable good faith intent, judged in light of all the circumstances then present."

*Id.* at 668-69 (citations and footnotes omitted).

In reaching this decision, the *Whaley* Court actually engaged in a particular analysis that directly contradicts Dr. Townsend's view of RCW 26.44.060. *Whaley* concerned a parent's claims against a day care provider over a false child abuse report.

... (The provider) initially argues (the plaintiff) cannot defeat the claim of immunity because (plaintiff) has not alleged (provider) acted in bad faith. *But the necessity of alleging bad faith under the statute arises only in cases charging criminal liability under RCW 26.44.060(4) for making a false report.*

*Id.* (emphasis added).

With that analysis, the *Whaley* Court appropriately singled out cases of criminal, intentional bad faith reporting as belonging to a discrete sub-class of reporters for whom immunity is automatically lost. The natural implication is that the language contained in RCW 26.44.060(4) does not apply to the larger group of reporters, like Dr. Townsend.

In a 2002 case, Division Three engaged in a full analysis of the evils of child abuse, the need for mandatory reporting, potential criminal sanctions for mandatory reporters who fail in those duties, and the readily available good faith immunity for reporters. *Yuille v. State*, 111 Wn. App. 527, 45 P.3d 1107 (Div. III 2002). *Yuille* concerned a doctor's reporting of a mother's mental illness thought to be harming her children. The *Yuille* Court repeated the well-established principle that "[g]ood faith flows from a 'mind indicating honesty and lawfulness of purpose'." *Id.* at 533. The Court concurred with the protections noted in *Whaley*, that good faith immunity "does not require that the information giving rise to the suspicion of abuse be investigated or verified before it is reported." *Id.* And it cited with approval a companion appellate court opinion which found that "even if mistakes were made ... the parties believed they were acting in the best interests of the children. And therefore, they acted in good faith." *Id.*, at 534, citing *Miles v. CPS*, 102 Wn. App. 142, 6 P.3d 112 (2000), rev. den., 142 Wn.2d 1021, 16 P.3d 1266 (2001).

*Yuille* is also extremely significant as standing in direct opposition to another of Dr. Townsend's claims, that this Washington Supreme Court "has never had occasion to review" the claimed "misapplication" of RCW 26.44.060. Division Three's published opinion in *Yuille* was centered entirely on the same interpretation of good faith immunity that

Dr. Townsend now claims has been misguided for years and years. A Petition for Review of that appellate decision was sought, considered by this Court and denied at 148 Wn.2d 1003, 60 P.3d 1212 (2003).

This Court also had the opportunity to review this longstanding and plain interpretation of RCW 26.44.060 in the apparent first of a long line of appellate cases that Dr. Townsend claims to be misguided, *Dunning v. Pacerelli*, 63 Wn. App. 232, 818 P.2d 34 (Div. III 1991). The *Dunning* Court held that good faith immunity attaches when reporters have “reasonable good faith intent, judged in light of all the circumstances then present.” *Id.* at 240. Here, as in all of the numerous other cases analyzing the issue, there is no rule removing immunity only for those convicted of intentional, bad faith reporting. A Petition for Review of this Division Three decision was also sought, considered and denied by this Court at 118 Wn.2d 1024, 827 P.2d 1392 (1992).

C. **Dr. Townsend failed to preserve at trial the construction of RCW 26.44.060 that she urges here.**

Division Three did not offer particular analysis or reasoning in denying Dr. Townsend’s unprecedented construction of RCW 26.44.060. One likely reason is that Dr. Townsend did not make any record before the trial court either through a proposed jury instruction or as an objection to the jury instruction on the issue of good faith immunity that became the

law of the case. The wording of the jury instruction regarding Dr. Townsend's right to avail herself of good faith immunity was thoroughly argued by the parties before Judge O'Connor. Dr. Townsend did not propose her own instruction on good faith immunity, nor did she argue or propose an instruction that the statute did not apply to her because she had not been previously convicted of a crime regarding her report to CPS. CP at 95-117 (Court's instructions to jury); RP at 853-59 (Defendant's exceptions to instructions).<sup>4</sup> As a consequence, Dr. Townsend's argument on this issue here is essentially one of having an objection to jury instructions. "An appellate court may consider a claimed error in a jury instruction only if the appellant raised the specific issue by exception at trial." *Van Hout v. Celotex Corp.*, 121 Wn.2d 697, 702, 853 P.2d 908 (1993); Petition, Appendix A at 25. Because Dr. Townsend failed to raise the issue at trial, she is precluded from arguing it now in this Petition.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Respondents James and Amy Eskridge respectfully request the Court to deny the Petition for Review.

---

<sup>4</sup> The Court of Appeals similarly ruled Dr. Townsend failed to preserve at trial her appeals court objection to language in the good faith immunity jury instruction pertaining to reporting within 48 hours. Petition, Appendix A at pp. 24-26.